





February 2021

#### Acknowledgements

This report was written with the support of Rebecca Gordon, who undertook the scoping of the literature on this topic. Garima Sahai undertook fact-checking of the report. We are extremely grateful to the UK Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office for commissioning this work, and for providing guidance throughout the process of preparing the report. We are grateful for the feedback from the the technical advisory group for this study, connected with the Platform for Girls' Education. We are thankful to the UN Girls' Education Initiative (UNGEI) for on-going feedback. We also thank Andrew Johnston for his editing of the report, and preparing the summary (available separately). With thanks to Dan Barrett for the visuals design, and to Sandra Baxter and Holly Ruffhead for their support to the final publication.

The author is solely responsible for the content and recommendations in the report.

© REAL Centre, University of Cambridge

**Suggested citation:** Rose, P. 2021. Exploring the School to Work Transition for Adolescent Girls. REAL Centre. University of Cambridge.

### Contents

Contents
Abbreviations and Acronyms
Introduction 4
Why is adolescence so important?4
Why the focus on marginalisation?5
Why is education so crucial for work opportunities5
Why the focus on livelihoods?6
Section I: Trends in Education and Livelihoods for Marginalised Adolescent Girls
Many marginalised adolescent girls do not complete 12 years of quality education8
Marginalised girls are less likely than boys to have access to formal jobs
Adolescent girls' work is often insecure, unproductive and unsafe
Section II: Marginalised Adolescent Girls Face Many Barriers to Secure, Productive Work 17
Marginalised girls are least likely to develop foundational and transferable skills needed for secure and productive livelihoods
Marhinalised girls face gender discimination in the labour market
Section III: Programmes that Help Adolescent Girls Move from School to Work
Short-term interventions are needed ot help girls develop skills within and outside of scholl
Short-term interventions can tackle the multiple barriers girls face in obtaining secure and productive work
Short-term intervetions need to protect marginalised adolescent girls from unsafe work
Long-term intervetions are needed to transform education systems
Long-term interventions need to provide gender-sensitive vocational training and work- based training
Long-term interventions need to challenge gender discrimination in the labour market. 29
Recommendations
References

### **Abbreviations and Acronyms**

CAMFED	Campaign for Female Education
GAGE	Gender and Adolescence Global Evidence Project
ILO	International Labour Organization
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals
SIGI	Social Institutions and Gender Index
STEM	Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics
STEP	The Skills Towards Employment and Productivity
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation

### Introduction

If countries are to grow and prosper in a way that improves the lives of everyone, they need to make a special commitment to supporting one of the most vulnerable sections of the population: marginalised adolescent girls. Girls who experience extreme poverty, live in rural areas, live with disabilities, are affected by conflict or belong to disadvantaged ethnic groups face the greatest risk of being left behind. In terms of the world's development ambitions, they are the least likely to complete primary and secondary schooling, part of the fourth Sustainable Development Goal (SDG), and face the greatest barriers in making the transition from school to decent work (SDG 8).

Marginalised adolescent girls should be able to move to livelihood opportunities – not only formal jobs but also informal work and self-employment – that are secure, safe, fulfilling and productive. So that they can make that transition, it is vital to extend their education to 12 years of quality schooling. This will give them chances to acquire the kinds of skills they need, and to look beyond the education system to bring down barriers to their full participation in society.

#### Why is adolescence so important?

Adolescence, commonly defined as the years between 10 and 19, is increasingly seen as offering a crucial chance to put people on a path towards a better life (Gender and Adolescence Global Evidence Project (GAGE), 2017). Adolescents make up more than 1.2 billion people, or one sixth of the world's population (UNICEF, 2018). In this critical period, young people undergo significant physical, cognitive and emotional changes, and build their aspirations for the rest of life. It is a particularly vital time in a girl's development. In principle, girls would move into secondary education in early adolescence, and from school to work in late adolescence. In reality, the majority of marginalised girls in low- and lower-middle income countries do not have access to education beyond primary school so the transition to work, including domestic duties, happens earlier.

Adolescence is also the stage when a girl's position in her family and community may shift. In communities and regions where there are strict beliefs about female sexuality, girls may face stigma at the onset of puberty when their bodies change. They can also face a heavier set of expectations about how girls and women should behave (Jones, Presler-Marshall, and Samuels, 2018). Beginning during early adolescence (10-14 years), these changes become more pronounced in late adolescence (15-19 years) when social norms around marriage and motherhood are more likely to intensify. Particularly in low-income households and communities, a combination of low educational opportunities, economic insecurity, vulnerability and exposure to violence, alongside harmful social norms and practices, can hinder girls' transition into a healthy, safe, productive and fulfilling adulthood (Hallman, 2016; Stavropoulou, 2018).

#### Why the focus on marginalisation?

The transition to adulthood can be particularly difficult for girls experiencing intersecting forms of disadvantage. Extreme poverty, rural isolation, disability, conflict and ethnic discrimination combine to exclude adolescent girls from education and from livelihoods. For example, the most marginalised adolescent girls are also most at risk of early marriage and pregnancy, which can limit their ability to make the transition into work, restricting in turn their livelihood options and earning potential (Binkley, 2019; Chakravarty et. al., 2017). That is why it is vital, when crafting policies to support girls' transition from school to work, to consider whether and how these policies meet the needs of the most marginalised girls.

#### Why is education so crucial for work opportunities

A lack of schooling opportunities has resulted in 175 million young people in low- and lowermiddle income countries starting their working lives unable to read. For the last 20 years, women have consistently made up around 63% of adults who are unable to read (UNESCO, 2019). There is a vast skills gap and a skills mismatch for young people, which limits their ability to access a large majority of work (Wilson-Clark and Saha, 2019).

Adolescent girls need three kinds of skills for secure and productive livelihoods: foundational, transferable, and technical and vocational. Foundational skills consist of basic competencies such as literacy and numeracy in the first instance, progressing to more advanced subject areas. Transferable skills, which can be used for different forms of livelihoods, are also referred to as life skills or soft skills. They include critical thinking, problem solving and communication, as well as self-esteem, self-control and self-confidence. Technical and vocational skills apply to the specific livelihood opportunities that adolescent girls are trying to obtain (UNESCO, 2012; International Labour Organization (ILO) and UNICEF, 2018).

There is no clear consensus on which skills are most relevant for work. One systematic review identified skills that could be most likely to increase workplace success as being transferable skills related to communication, problem solving and decision making, self-esteem and self-control (Lippman et al., 2015). Foundational and transferable skills are most likely to be developed through formal education, so access to education is crucial for adolescent girls. Education systems can also provide technical and vocational training. However, these skills can also be developed through informal routes such as catch-up education programmes or on-the-job training. Transferable skills, which may be developed through formal education, are also learned and practised in everyday life. They are often influenced by gender norms, which may make it harder for young women to develop these skills. There is growing evidence of the importance of school-based and community-based programmes that seek to develop transferable skills directly (Marcus et al., 2017).

The most marginalised adolescent girls are least likely to have had the opportunity to develop foundational and transferable skills due to barriers to education. It has been widely noted that investing in the early years and throughout formal education is the most important way to develop foundational skills (Arias, Evans and Santos, 2019). Despite this recognition, previous studies, including the first report for the Platform for Girls' Education, *12 Years of Quality Education for All Girls: A Commonwealth Perspective* (Gordon et al., 2019), have

shown that the most marginalised girls are most likely to drop out of school before completing primary school and to have learned the least. Opportunities to develop technical and vocational skills often come towards the end of secondary education, but many marginalised girls drop out of school before this (UNESCO, 2012). It is therefore vital to maintain a focus on ensuring girls complete 12 years of quality education so they can develop the skills they need for work.

#### Why the focus on livelihoods?

The terms *jobs*, *work* and *employment* are usually interpreted as meaning formal employment, with contracts, salaries and defined work hours. Many people in low-income communities, however, particularly in rural areas, have little access to formal employment. In this report, we focus on secure, safe, fulfilling and productive *livelihood opportunities* to include both formal and informal sector work. In reality, there is a wide spectrum of livelihood opportunities, including within the informal sector. Our focus is on ensuring marginalised girls have access to work that is:

- *secure* not vulnerable to short-term changes
- *safe* free from exploitation and violence
- *fulfilling* providing some choice in the type of work
- *productive* paying a decent and fair wage.

Much of the work available to marginalised girls does not meet these criteria – it may be insecure, unsafe and pay a wage below the poverty line. In addition, they may have little choice over the type of paid work they can take, due to demands of unpaid household work and lack of childcare support, among other reasons (Kabeer, 2012; Bantebya et. al., 2014).

The focus on the term livelihoods in particular seeks to recognise the positive role that selfemployment through entrepreneurship can have in the lives of young women. Although entrepreneurship can lead to insecure and unsafe work, if the correct structures and legislation are in place it can provide adolescent girls with opportunities to work where there are few formal forms of employment, or in the areas that interest them most. Population growth will give self-employment through entrepreneurship a key role in ensuring jobs for adolescent girls (World Bank, 2019). This role will be particularly significant in rural areas, where formal jobs are often scarce.

This report aims to highlight key barriers for adolescent girls in their transition to secure and productive livelihoods. It draws on a range of published research that has been identified through searches of conventional academic databases. These searches were conducted before the Covid-19 pandemic; updates have been incorporated based on a rapid review of relevant literature focused on the particular challenges related to the pandemic. The main purpose of the report is to identify key policy directions based on the identified literature, not to offer a rigorous or systematic review.

This report has three sections. Section I outlines current trends in education for marginalised girls and the types of livelihoods available to marginalised girls. It focuses in particular on lowand lower-middle income countries furthest from achieving the SDGs. Section II describes the barriers that marginalised girls face in accessing secure and productive livelihood opportunities and the types of interventions that enhance marginalised adolescent girls' access to such opportunities.

The barriers to girls' access to livelihoods require long-term structural change at the systems level and changes to social norms. Section III therefore focuses on interventions that have transformed structures. Such change requires strong political leadership and sustained commitment to dismantling patriarchal institutions that deny girls access to secure and productive livelihoods. There is less evidence in this area, although the role of political leadership for girls' education is addressed in a paper for the Platform for Girls' Education (Rose et al., 2020). Therefore, the focus on short-term interventions to support girls' transition from school to work is presented solely as a short-term fix to the barriers that girls face, rather than as the solution.

### Section I: Trends in Education and Livelihoods for Marginalised Adolescent Girls

- Many marginalised adolescent girls in low- and lower-middle income countries have not completed primary education, and are very unlikely to complete lower secondary education.
- Even marginalised girls who remain in school are the most likely to leave education without learning the basics.
- Unpaid and domestic work can often hinder girls' schooling. Adolescent girls are more likely to have 'double work duty', combining household work and paid work.
- Their lower levels of education mean that marginalised girls are the least likely group to be in paid work and have longer and more unstable school to work transitions.
- When in work, marginalised girls are concentrated in vulnerable employment and the informal sector. They are most likely to be juggling several responsibilities and jobs and to face greater risk of exploitation and low earnings.
- Covid-19 is likely to exacerbate these risks, with adolescent girls most at risk of not returning to school due to domestic duties and early marriage.

#### Many marginalised adolescent girls do not complete 12 years of quality education

In many low- and lower-middle income countries, marginalised adolescent girls rarely complete primary education. While attention to adolescent girls' livelihood opportunities conventionally focuses on their transition from secondary school to work, many marginalised girls do not make it to the end of primary school. During adolescence, the proportion of girls who are out of school in sub-Saharan Africa is 36%, compared with 32% for boys (Ngware et al., 2018). Girls from poor households in sub-Saharan Africa are least likely to have reached secondary education, with around 16% never attending school compared with 13% of poor boys (Figure 1). In addition, one-third of the poorest 10 to 19 year olds in the region are still in primary school, and fewer of most marginalised girls complete primary school. In Nigeria, almost all of the richest boys in urban areas complete primary school, but only around 11 in every 100 poorest girls living in rural areas do so (Zubairi & Rose, 2019).

### Figure 1: Distribution of disadvantaged (poorest quintile) 10-19 years old by education status, latest year available



A. Poorest Girls

**B.** Poorest Boys

Source: UNICEF analysis, included in Zubairi and Rose, 2019

Girls from the most disadvantaged backgrounds are even less likely to complete lower secondary school than primary school. For 24 of the 38 sub-Saharan African countries with data, less than one in ten girls from poor households in rural areas complete lower secondary education (Figure 2). In some countries the gap in lower secondary completion between the poorest rural girls and richest urban boys is particularly stark; for example, in Nigeria only 3% of girls from poor households in rural areas complete secondary education, compared with 92% of rich urban boys. The proportion of poor rural girls completing lower secondary school has not significantly increased between 2006 and 2016 (Zubairi and Rose, 2019). Without a concerted effort to support these adolescent girls, they will remain left behind.





Source: UNESCO-WIDE, 2017, figure originally presented in Zubairi and Rose, 2019.

Marginalised girls are more likely to leave education early without learning the basic foundational skills needed to gain access to secure, safe, fulfilling and productive livelihoods. In 14 out of the 26 countries with data in the Commonwealth, girls who are in school are learning for the equivalent of six years or less. Girls in rural areas, and those facing other forms of disadvantage, are likely to be receiving even less schooling (Figure 3).

More generally, in countries where less than 50% of children complete primary school, learning gaps between boys and girls are wider, with poverty compounding these gaps (Rose et al., 2017). These gaps are likely to persist into secondary education or increase the likelihood of dropout. It is clear that marginalised girls are the group least likely to have the opportunity to develop foundational skills in literacy and numeracy in school.



#### Figure 3: Girls are far from the target of being in school for 12 years <u>and</u> learning

Learning adjusted years of schooling for girls, latest year

Marginalised girls are least likely to develop transferable skills, such as critical thinking, communication, problem solving, confidence or self-esteem that could support access to livelihood opportunities. Transferable skills can be developed through formal schooling. For example, the World Bank's STEP (The Skills towards Employment and Productivity) survey in Ghana found that adults who had more education scored higher in terms of socio-emotional skills. Those with higher socio-economic status also tend to have higher socio-emotional skill scores (World Bank, 2014). However, transferable skills are not sufficiently developed for all children and adolescents, whether in or out of school. Out of 152 surveyed countries, 117 include transferable skills within national policy documents, 71 include transferable skills are developed in school (UNICEF, 2019). UNICEF's Global Framework on Transferable Skills therefore also highlights the contribution of non-formal and community-based programmes to transferable skill development (UNICEF, 2019).

Marginalised adolescent girls are more likely than boys to have unpaid care and domestic responsibilities, which can curtail their schooling. Between the ages of 5 and 11, 45% of girls (compared with 38% of boys) undertake household chores for at least one hour per week. Between 12 and 14, this gap widens, with 69% of girls being involved in household chores for at least one hour a week compared with 56% of boys. Girls are also more likely to be working

Source: World Bank (2018), figure originally presented in Gordon et al. (2019).

longer hours inside the home, with 8.1% of girls working for 14-20 hours in comparison with 4.7% of boys, and 3.4% of girls working 21 to 27 hours, compared with 1.7% of boys (Stavropoulou, 2018).

Time-consuming unpaid domestic and care-related tasks can reduce girls' attendance at school. For example, girls who spent 28 hours or more per week in domestic and care work were found to spend 25% less time at school than those involved in less than ten hours per week (ILO, 2009 cited in UNESCO, 2019). Household responsibilities can also affect girls' ability to study outside of school hours. In Bangladesh, for example, girls with household responsibilities were found to spend on average at least half an hour per day less on studying than boys (Camfield et al., 2017). School closures as a result of Covid-19 have increased childcare and household responsibilities, which are more likely to disadvantage girls (UNESCO, 2020).

#### Marginalised girls are less likely than boys to have access to formal jobs

The transition to work can take longer for girls than boys and be less stable. The International Labour Organisation (ILO) conducted its school-to-work transition survey between 2012 and 2015 in more than 30 low- and middle-income countries. The survey found that it takes an average of 7.8 months for a young woman to find work after completing education, but only 6.9 months for young men. At the age of 25 to 29, young men were found to be 1.9 times more likely to have completed the school to work transition than young women (Elder and Kring, 2016).

Young women with higher levels of education are more likely to complete the transition to the labour market. The ILO survey demonstrated the advantage that a higher level of education brings in helping young people complete the transition to the labour market, and particularly to a secure job (opposed to a temporary or self-employed job). For example, a young woman educated at university is 1.9 times more likely to complete this transition than a young woman educated only to primary level. This is a stronger link than for males: tertiary-educated young men are only 1.5 times more likely to have completed the labour market transition than boys with only primary education (Elder and Kring, 2016).

Marginalised adolescent girls are the least likely to be in paid work. The ILO survey showed that the labour force participation rate was 16 percentage points higher for young men than for young women in 2014. Additionally, 76% of youth who were neither active in the labour market nor students were female (Elder and Kring, 2016). The rate of young people not in education, employment or training is twice as high for females (31%) as for males (16%) (ILO and UNICEF, 2018). Older adolescent girls in particular face greater disadvantage and exclusion than their male counterparts. The labour force participation rate was 37% for women aged 15 to 24 but 54% for men of the same age (Stavropoulou, 2018). The ILO survey showed that the urban unemployment rate was 18% for young men but 24% for young women. For rural men unemployment was 13% compared with 20% for rural women, demonstrating a slightly larger gender gap in unemployment for women in rural areas (Elder et al., 2015). This is not by choice: almost 70% of economically inactive females aged 15 to 29 who were not in education indicated that they wished to work in the future (ILO and UNICEF, 2018).

Gender and social norms act as barriers to paid work for the most marginalised adolescent girls. Analysis of the ILO survey demonstrated that 'being young and female can serve as a double strike for those seeking to find productive employment.' For example, having children was found to push young men towards employment, with 83.6% of young fathers in work, but had the opposite effect for young women, with less than one in two young mothers in work (Elder and Kring, 2016). This divide is likely to be exacerbated by the Covid-19 crisis, given the concerns about increasing levels of early marriage during the pandemic (Jones et al., 2020a). Social norms also appeared to prevent adolescent girls with disabilities from finding paid work. In all 27 lower- and middle-income countries studied by UN Women, older adolescent girls and young women with disabilities were the least likely to have access to labour market opportunities (Jones, Presler-Marshall and Stavropoulou, 2018). In Kenya, 58% of youth with disabilities reported that this was due to stigma and discrimination (Kett, 2012).

#### Adolescent girls' work is often insecure, unproductive and unsafe

When marginalised young women are in paid work, it is more likely to be vulnerable and insecure (Table 1). Among Asian countries, nearly two in three young female workers in rural areas are in vulnerable employment,<sup>i</sup> compared with two in five in urban areas. In sub-Saharan Africa, 82% of female workers in rural areas were in vulnerable work, in comparison with 68% in urban areas (Elder and Kring, 2016).

Region	Are women in secure livelihoods?
Asia and the Pacific	<ul> <li>Nearly six in ten young female workers are in vulnerable employment.</li> <li>91% are in informal employment.</li> <li>Only one in three paid workers has a contract longer than 12 months.</li> </ul>
Latin America and the Caribbean	<ul> <li>68% of young female workers are in paid employment, 12% are contributing to family work.</li> <li>80% are in informal employment.</li> <li>One in two paid workers has a contract longer than 12 months.</li> </ul>
Sub-Saharan Africa	<ul> <li>Nearly eight in ten female workers are in vulnerable employment.</li> <li>93% are in informal employment.</li> <li>Only 11% of paid workers have a contract longer than 12 months.</li> </ul>

#### Table 1: Are young women in vulnerable employment?

#### Source: Elder and Kring, 2016, from the ILO School to Work Transition Survey

Young women are often concentrated in informal employment with insecure contracts, low wages and poor conditions. Individuals are considered to have informal jobs if their employment relationship is, in law or in practice, not subject to national labour legislation, income taxation, social protection or entitlement to certain employment benefits (advance notice of dismissal, severance pay, paid annual or sick leave, etc.) (OECD/ILO, 2019). Informal

sector workers normally face lower wages, as well as limited health and safety protection, and little access to social insurance (Cho et al., 2012). Over 90% of girls and boys aged 15 to 19 in the ILO survey countries were informally employed (Elder and Kring, 2016). However, girls are more likely to be employed in informal sectors with weak regulatory environments. For example, the most recent Demographic and Health Survey in Rwanda showed that 72% of girls aged 15 to 19 worked in agriculture, compared with 60% of boys (National Institute of Statistics Rwanda (NISR), 2016). Many of these girls were employed without a contract, for very low salaries, with poor conditions and were not protected by labour laws (Abbott et al., 2014). The economic pressures resulting from Covid-19 are likely to reduce the number of livelihood opportunities and push more girls into insecure and unsafe employment. There is already evidence that working adolescents have been suffering from a loss of employment or exploitative work conditions with longer hours and lower salaries (Jones et al., 2020b).

Those with lower levels of education are more likely to be in vulnerable and informal work. In low- and middle-income countries, only 39% of 15- to 29-year-olds with no or primary education are in formal employment, compared with 59% of those with some secondary education and 84% of those with post-secondary education. The pattern is reversed for self-employment, with those with lower levels of education being most likely to be self-employed. While some chose informal self-employment because it gave them greater independence, many were self-employed because they could not find a formal waged or salaried job (Burchell and Coutts, 2019). The ILO survey further found that, for both men and women in the formal and informal sectors, wages are higher if levels of education are higher. However, across all levels of education, wages are lower for women than for men in the formal and informal employment, while those with secondary are able to escape from it – and those with higher education, even more so.





Marginalised adolescent girls in work are more likely to be in unsafe jobs, at risk of exploitation and sexual violence. In younger adolescence, girls are more likely to be in hazardous work than boys. For example, girls account for 57% of all children aged 5 to 14 in hazardous work globally (Guarcello and Lyon, 2015). Young girls living in poverty are also like to be most at risk of trafficking. A study of sexually exploited girls aged 9 to 17 in major cities in Tanzania found that many had been trafficked to urban zones from their rural homes into domestic work and had been abused by their employers (ILO, 2011 cited in Chant et al., 2017). In other cases, girls in their early adolescence who migrated from rural to urban areas were trafficked directly into sex work (Mabala, 2006 cited in Chant et al., 2017). When livelihood opportunities are limited for refugee or migrant girls, they are more likely to engage in risky work. For example, Congolese girls in refugee camps in Rwanda were reliant on economic provisions from international organisations, which led them to transactional sex work in order to have money to spend on basic essentials, such as food, clothes and sanitary pads (Williams, Chopra and Chikanya, 2018).

Marginalised young women are more likely to be juggling several responsibilities and often several jobs. In Benin, Madagascar and Tanzania, women work at least ten hours longer than men every week, if work both inside and outside the household is included (FAO, 2010, cited in Elder and Kring, 2016). Similarly, in 32 low- and lower-middle-income countries, each day women spent one to three hours more on housework than men, two to ten times as much time caring for dependents, but one to four hours less in paid work (World Bank, 2012, cited

Source: O'Higgins (2017)

in Elder and Kring, 2016). Even when in work, adolescents are likely to have more than one job. For example, amongst those surveyed in sub-Saharan Africa and Asia, nearly a third of adolescents are found to combine self-employment with employment for another person or company, and 45% of those surveyed juggled three or more income-generating activities (Barford and Coombes, 2019).

# Section II: Marginalised Adolescent Girls Face Many Barriers to Secure, Productive Work

Many barriers prevent marginalised adolescent girls from gaining access to secure and productive livelihoods. Although these vary for different groups of girls in different places, low education levels tend to form the first and most important barrier, as they prevent girls from developing the foundational and transferable skills required for work. Gender discrimination and social norms take a heavy toll on marginalised girls' opportunities in both education and the labour market. Such norms lead to early marriage and drop out, as well as limiting the subjects girls take at school and the technical and vocational skills they are able to acquire. These barriers are likely to be exacerbated by the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic. To bring down these barriers, governments and their partners need to change the wider structures surrounding education and the labour market (see Section III).

# Marginalised girls are least likely to develop foundational and transferable skills needed for secure and productive livelihoods

Barriers to educational access limit marginalised girls' opportunities to learn and develop skills, restricting their access to secure and productive livelihood opportunities of their choice. Marginalised adolescent girls are the least likely to have been provided the opportunity to develop foundational skills (such as literacy, numeracy and, increasingly, digital literacy), without which other skills are considerably more difficult to acquire (UNESCO, 2012). At least half of older adolescents in 59 countries studied lack foundation skills and around 200 million young people aged 15 to 24 lack the most basic foundational skills, 58% of whom are women (UNESCO, 2012). A lack of access to education or other training opportunities also means that the most marginalised girls are least likely to have transferable skills, such as critical thinking, strong communication, problem solving or self-esteem. Even if girls do have access to education, it is unlikely that they will consistently acquire transferable skills unless schools actively integrate the development of such skills,. Many curricula focus on theoretical knowledge. As a result, students often lack the capacity to make sense of their knowledge and use it to solve problems (UNESCO, 2012).

One in three unemployed adolescent girls in the Asia Pacific region, and one in five in sub-Saharan Africa, reported that entry requirements for their career path exceeded their education and training (ILO and UNICEF, 2018). Even when marginalised adolescent girls are in school, they still may not have the skills needed for the livelihood opportunities available.

Expectations and norms about what roles are appropriate for adolescent girls limit their educational opportunities as well as their ability to gain access to secure and productive livelihoods. While gender roles are present from birth, early adolescence (ages 10-14) is a critical period during which gender norms shape girls' possibilities and girls' responsibilities in the household increase. As noted in *12 Years of Quality Education for All Girls: A Commonwealth Perspective*, girls and young women who marry early are highly likely to drop out of school. In sub-Saharan Africa, marrying at age 16 reduces the likelihood of completing secondary education by 7.8 percentage points (Wodon et al., 2017). This subsequently limits girls' ability to develop foundational and transferable skills. Furthermore, gender gaps in

parents' and childrens' aspirations for education and livelihoods start appearing between middle childhood and early adolescence, in many cases due to norms about the role of girls in later life (Winter, 2016). For example, in Ethiopia, girls are more likely to be directed to work that is 'typically female' such as cooking and caring, while boys are directed to 'male tasks' such as livestock herding and farming (Boyden et al., 2016).

Gender norms and expectations about the subjects that girls take at school can restrict their choice of livelihoods. In many societies, girls are less likely to study science, mathematics, engineering and technology (STEM), including due to gender norms and stereotypes which limit girls' motivation and engagement with these subjects (UNICEF ITU, 2020). This subsequently affects their ability to choose this area of employment. For example, only 7% of young women surveyed in 2012-2016 in ILO's School to Work Transition Surveys conducted in 34 countries had chosen career paths in STEM, in comparison with 18% of young men (ILO and UNICEF, 2018). In numerous countries, women faced restricted access to livelihoods that were deemed inappropriate for them. For example, in India, some communities considered work in call centres unsuitable for women (Muñoz Boudet et al, 2013).

Gender norms also curb access to vocational training opportunities. Marginalised adolescent girls are the group least likely to gain access to formal training opportunities and apprenticeships, and therefore to develop technical and vocational skills. For example, in rural Bangladesh only 3% of girls were enrolled in formal and non-formal vocational training institutions, in comparison with 6% of boys (Presler-Marshall and Stavropoulou, 2017). In Ghana, only 11% of the poorest one-fifth of young people had access to an apprenticeship, compared with 47% of the wealthiest fifth, and men are more likely than women to receive free training (UNESCO, 2012; Palmer 2007). Adolescent girls with disabilities are even less likely to obtain access to training. For example, in southern Africa nearly half of 15 to 29 year olds with disabilities who were surveyed reported that they needed but could not gain access to vocational training services (Eide, 2012). Vocational training and apprenticeships also often reinforce social norms by offering girls training in stereotypically female and low-paid trades such as arts and crafts, tailoring and beauty salons (Fox et al., 2011).

#### Marhinalised girls face gender discimination in the labour market

An overarching barrier facing adolescents in low and lower middle-income countries is a lack of work opportunities. Many countries have a burgeoning population of young people with low levels of education. At the same time, technology and automation are evolving quickly. As a result, adolescents do not always have the skill sets necessary for the types of jobs available (Arias, Evans and Santos, 2019). Gender discrimination in the labour market exacerbates this mismatch for marginalised adolescent girls. For example, in the United Republic of Tanzania, 68% of young women who were not actively looking for a job said it was because they did not think that they could find one (Kondylis and Manacorda, 2008 in UNESCO, 2012).

Marginalised adolescent girls are denied access to secure and productive livelihoods because of policies and structural support that are insufficent (e.g. discriminatory land laws and a lack of minimum wage legislation). Structural support such as minimum wage legislation can reduce young women's vulnerability to low-paid jobs. Without such support, it is clear that young women – especially those who have not had the opportunity to complete education – are the group most likely to be in low paid work (Figure 5). The OECD Social Institutions and Gender Index (SIGI) survey measures areas in which adolescent girls face restrictions as a result of discrimination in the family, restricted physical integrity, restricted access to productive and financial resources, and restricted civil liberties. Discriminatory inheritance laws, which deny access to assets such as land or property, limit girls' opportunities to earn a livelihood. These are widespread – 115 out of the 180 countries covered by the 2018 SIGI survey had evidence of such discriminatory laws or practices.



Figure 5: Percentage of youth working above the poverty line, by gender and educational attainment

Source: EFA Global Monitoring Report team calculations (2012) based on School to Work Transtion survery data (ILO. 2011c)

Early marriage and pregnancy, which marginalised adolescent girls are more likely to experience, restrict their access to livelihood opportunities. Evidence is also growing that if women are unable to start earning an income soon after leaving school, they are often pushed towards early marriage (Binkley, 2019; Population Council and Women Deliver, 2019). Therefore, being able to gain access to a livelihood is strongly linked to preventing early marriage and giving young women more control over their life choices, such as when and who they marry, and whether they can use family planning. Having children, which pushes young men towards employment, has the opposite effect for young women.

Gender-based violence can prevent marginalised adolescent girls from gaining access to safe and fulfilling livelihoods. Widespread gender-based violence means that women who work outside of their home can be at risk. Adolescent girls are vulnerable to harassment from authority figures in the workplace. For example, in Nigeria, two-thirds of young female apprentices who were surveyed reported experiencing physical violence, and 39% reported that their employer was the most recent perpetrator (Fawole et al., 2005). In Liberia, 20% of women said that they preferred self-employment because it had lower risk of sexual harassment (Ruiz Abril, 2008) However, in Malawi, 14% of female entrepreneurs have been subject to physical or emotional violence by their domestic partner and 32% say that their husband insists on knowing where they are at all times (World Bank, 2019). Violence can also influence adolescent girls' ability to gain access to livelihoods. For example, in India, a higher perceived level of crime against women is likely to significantly reduce the number of women who work (Chakraborty et al., 2018). A heightened risk of gender-based violence during the Covid-19 pandemic is also likely to further curb girls' access to safe livelihoods. Additionally, transport has emerged as a significant challenge, especially during the pandemic, with girls finding it harder to travel safely to work (Jones et al., 2020b; Wilson et. al., 2019).

Inadequate sanitation and hygiene facilities are a barrier to safe livelihoods for adolescent girls. Even when adolescent girls are self-employed or working in the home, a lack of sanitation facilities often diminishes their productivity, particularly during menstruation. Without access to toilets, women and girls develop coping strategies such as eating and drinking less, defecating in the open and hiding wherever they can. This puts them at risk of ill health, infection and violence. Women may also stop working due to menstruation (Sommer et al., 2016). The onset of menstruation, and inadequate sanitary facilities and supplies, also lead girls to drop out of school (Caruso et al., 2013). Social norms related to menstruation can prevent adolescent girls from completing education and making the transition to work. In Uganda, communities perceived the onset of menstruation as the end of a girl's childhood and the start of her womanhood, which leads to them needing to fulfil their responsibilities as a woman, subsequently affecting their ability to access livelihoods of their choice (Bantebya et al., 2014).

Adolescent girls face barriers to productive entrepreneurship and self-employment, due to a lack of access to financial services and credit, for example. Self-employment through entrepreneurship can be a pathway to secure and productive livelihoods, as it enables women to be more in control over their working environments (Mastercard Foundation, 2018). However, many marginalised adolescent girls are more likely to be self-employed because there are fewer formal jobs, or because these formal jobs require skills they have not been able to develop. Additionally, young women face discrimination when seeking access to finance, resources, assets and support services that are crucial in creating and expanding small enterprises. For example, in South Asia, 65% of young women and 63% of adolescent men have no access to financial services. In the Middle East and North Africa, 92% of adolescent girls and 87% of adolescent boys lack access to financial services (Skyes et al., 2016). Adolescent women in sub-Saharan Africa are 4.1 percentage points less likely than men to have savings to start a business and 1.3 percentage points less likely to borrow for business purposes (Demirguc-Kunt and Klapper, 2015). This issue is most likely to be a barrier to the poorest girls and girls living in rural areas. Denied access to formal financial services, they are more likely to rely on potentially more exploitative informal services.

A lack of family networks, peer networks and role models can restrict livelihood choices for marginalised adolescent girls. Connections through family and peer networks are the main way adolescents in low- and middle-income countries look for jobs (Barford and Coombes, 2019). Indeed, networks are critical to adolescents' decisions to join the labour force but may be more limited for girls. For example, fathers' networks in South Africa provide useful connections for sons looking for jobs but not for daughters (Magruder, 2010). In Malawi, men are systematically less likely to refer women for jobs - they refer women only 23% of the time - despite knowing qualified women in their networks (Beaman et al., 2016). In Uganda and Ethiopia, women mentioned that the presence and encouragement of role models early in their careers helped them to enter male-dominated trades. In Uganda, women were at least 12% more likely to move into male-dominated trades if they had a male role model (Campos et al., 2015). In Ethiopia, women who were able to change business to work in traditionally male-dominated sectors were likely to be supported by a husband within the business (Alibhai et al., 2015). These findings demonstrate that a lack of family networks, peer networks and role models may prevent young women from entering more fulfilling or more productive employment.

# Section III: Programmes that Help Adolescent Girls Move from School to Work

Around the world, many programmes have shown that they can help marginalised adolescent girls move smoothly from school into work, despite the barriers identified in Section II, While these interventions have been successful, they may not adapt to other contexts. Programmes have aimed to enhance foundational, transferable, or technical and vocational skills – or a combination of these. There is no clear hierarchy of which skills should be prioritised. Where foundational skills in literacy and numeracy are lacking, however, it is more difficult for young people to acquire transferable or technical and vocational skills through training programmes (UNESCO, 2012).

To ensure that marginalised adolescent girls have access to secure and productive livelihoods, there is a need for broad systemic changes – from high-level political leaders to the grassroots level – to challenge the gender discrimination in the education system and the labour market, and especially to shift the social norms that restrict girls' access to both. Such change is likely to take time and there is less evidence about the kinds of long-term interventions needed to achieve it. As such, this section begins by showing how more immediate interventions that can be successful in the short-term have prevented insecure, unproductive livelihood opportunities.

### Short-term interventions are needed ot help girls develop skills within and outside of scholl

Programmes offering a second chance for education can provide marginalised adolescent girls with the foundational skills they need to gain access to productive livelihoods. The Complementary Basic Education programme in the north of Ghana, for example, has supported children who missed opportunities to learn basic literacy and numeracy skills because they were unable to attend school. The programme focuses on helping girls, in particular, to acquire foundation skills and then provides a route back into primary school. Many of those in the programme are over-age for the primary system. Of those surveyed, the average age was 15 years, and 14% of those in the programme were also engaged in work. Of these participants, 90% said their experience in school helped with their work, particularly in mathematics, reading, writing, problem solving and English. When surveyed, the vast majority (90%) of those who had completed the programme had progressed to formal school. When asked about their aspirations, 82% said they wanted a job in the formal sector. The main barrier to achieving this was economic constraints (63%), with only 11% noting a lack of education and skills as a barrier (Carter, et. al., 2018).

Programmes that blend formal education with transferable skills development may help girls to stay in school while boosting the skills they need to obtain productive livelihoods. In Rwanda and Uganda, the Educate! Experience programme aims to resolve the mismatch between education and livelihood opportunities. The programme focuses on developing students' skills, training teachers and advising on national policy. Secondary school students are provided with skills training in leadership, entrepreneurship and workforce readiness, along with mentorship to start businesses, delivered by young entrepreneurs. Although adolescent

girls were not specifically targeted, they benefited the most. There was a 120% increase in income among the programme's female scholars and a 152% increase in business ownership. Female students also scored at least 5% higher than a control group on creativity and self-efficacy (belief in their ability to succeed in specific situations) (Educate! 2014 in Kwauk and Robinson, 2016). The Adolescent Girls' initiative in Rwanda provided scholarships for formal education and vocational training and entrepreneurship support for vulnerable girls and young women aged 16 to 24 who had been out of school for at least one year, with some primary education in both urban and rural areas. Those who had participated in the programme were 1.5 times more likely to have non-farm employment, driven mainly by higher self-employment. Average earnings and business profits doubled over the course of the project, while savings and livelihood ownership also increased (Botea et al., 2015).

The Learner Guide programme run by the Campaign for Female Education (CAMFED) also blends transferable skills development with formal education. Young female school graduates return to their local government secondary schools to deliver a self-development curriculum, My Better World, designed to build transferable skills (resilience, problem-solving, time management etc.) that will help young people succeed in the workplace. The programme in Tanzania was recognised in the 2017 WISE Awards and 2020 Yidan Prize, which recognise high-impact projects tackling education challenges. An evaluation of CAMFED's overall programme, which included the use of Learner Guides, found an increase in literacy and mathematics test scores among marginalised girls who had participated. CAMFED's programme in Tanzania overall is found to be highly cost-effective, equivalent to an additional two years in school (Sabates et al., 2020). The My Better World curriculum is now being aired through several broadcasters during the pandemic to try to reach a wider audience (Boost and Kwauk, 2020).

Foundational and transferable skills training outside of formal education can also help adolescent girls gain access to productive livelihoods. The Bangladeshi Association for Life Skills, Income and Knowledge for Adolescents programme provided educational support, gender rights awareness training and livelihood skills training. It also provided local young women as mentors for adolescent girls aged 12 to 18 in rural areas. Girls in the communities with livelihood training were about one-third more likely than others to earn an income and significantly more girls in all intervention areas reported working and having a higher income (Amin et al., 2016). In Rwanda, the Akazi Kanoze Youth Livelihood project provided vocational skills and entrepreneurship training to those aged 14 to 35 whose education levels were low. Trainees improved their employability and financial management: participants were 12% more likely to be employed than youth who did not participate. Women in the programme significantly increased their knowledge of how to find a job and improve their work position, while increases for male participants were not statistically significant (Alcid, 2014).

The programme Educating Nigerian Girls in New Enterprises sought to reach marginalised girls aged 16 to 19 who were married, pregnant or had had a child before the age of 18, who were divorced or widowed, unmarried girls who were orphans or came from a single parent household, girls with a disability or living in a household with someone with a disability, and girls unable to pay school fees. The programme provided girls with safe spaces and tutoring in maths, English, financial management, leadership and life skills. Those who had participated in the programme were more likely than non-participants to run their own business or manage a family business. More girls in the programme (65%) had access to a savings account than those not involved (37%). Participants had higher self-confidence and better knowledge of skills needed to run small businesses, including negotiation and financial management (Klugman et al, 2018). Transferable skills training that focuses on the psychosocial and social constraints on women entrepreneurs has proven promising for girls moving into adulthood (Siba, 2019). In Ethiopia, for example, a training programme emphasising self-esteem and entrepreneurship increased the business performance of female-owned firms (Alibhai, et. al., 2016).

Programmes that aimed to provide marginalised women with technical and vocational skills have been effective in enabling access to productive livelihoods. In New Delhi, the Social Awakening Through Youth Action Programme provided women aged 18 to 39 with a sixmonth stitching and tailoring course. The programme targeted the most marginalised women, including those with the least primary education, from low-income neighbourhoods and with low rates of employment. Those who had participated were more likely to be employed within six months of training, worked longer hours and earned more (Maitra and Mani, 2014). In Nepal, the Employment Fund, in partnership with the Adolescent Girls Initiative, provided vocational skills training and a six month employment placement to support girls, young women and men aged 16 to 24 with less than ten years of formal education. Those involved were more likely to move on to productive livelihoods. After three years, non-farm employment had increased by 15 to 16 percentage points. Participants were also more likely to find employment in the field for which they had received training, with the increase ranging from 18 to 19 percentage points. The benefits were significantly greater for young women than for men (Chakravarty et al., 2016).

In informal settlements in Nairobi, the Kenya Youth Empowerment Programme provided life skills and ICT training, alongside internships and job placement support, to women aged 18 to 35 who had completed high school but had been out of school and work for a year. Participants were 14% more likely than the control group to have a full-time job after the programme. They were also more likely to have a secure full-time position, while the control group were more likely to be in informal work (De Azevedo et al., 2013). In Bangladesh, a programme provided informal apprenticeships to out-of-school adolescent girls. Adolescents were placed in trades that challenged gender stereotypes and were supported by on-the-job training, and off-the-job trade theory and transferable skills classes. Almost all graduates found jobs in relevant trades within one month of completing the course, and monthly incomes increased by six times those of non-participants. The benefits were particularly high for girls, 77% of whom continued in relevant trades. Early marriage decreased by 62%. The programme also helped to challenge some of the social barriers and stigma that prevent women from gaining access to work that had previosuly not been considered appropriate for them (Wilson-Clark and Saha, 2019).

Life skills and informal learning support outside formal education can help reduce child marriage and teenage pregnancy, allowing girls to continue in school and avoid risky livelihood choices. Some successful programmes have focused on adolescent girls' vulnerability to exploitative relationships, early marriage and early pregnancy, which increase the likelihood that they will enter unsafe livelihoods. In Kenya, an intervention for secondary school girls tackled harmful social norms that lead to early marriage by providing "sugar-daddy-risk

education', which included a course on HIV and relationships that pose a risk to sexual health, particularly with older men. The course led to a 28% decrease in the likelihood that girls started childbearing within a year (Dupas, 2011).

# Short-term interventions can tackle the multiple barriers girls face in obtaining secure and productive work

A gender-sensitive approach in the post-school period can enable marginalised young women to build secure and productive livelihoods through entrepreneurship and to save for further career development. CAMFED's livelihoods programme is targeted at highly marginalised women soon after they complete secondary education in rural sub-Saharan Africa. The programme has five main components:

- 1) training in core business skills, financial literacy and life skills, including leadership, sexual and reproductive health, and career planning;
- 2) business finance in the form of a non-repayable seed grant of around \$50 and/or an interest-free loan of around \$500;
- 3) mentoring and peer support from other experienced female entrepreneurs through the CAMFED alumnae network CAMA;
- 4) a gender-sensitive approach that includes family and community orientation events to build support and recognition for women's business leadership; and
- 5) links to business development services, assets and market access through CAMFED's partnerships with government agencies, traditional authorities, business and financial service providers.

An external evaluation of CAMFED's programme in Malawi, Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe found that – in a context where rural young women are typically unemployed or unpaid and most people live in extreme poverty – it enabled most participants to create a job for themselves. Women's businesses substantially increased their incomes. Participants also built up personal savings for several purposes, including improved household resiliency in the face of 'shocks' (such as a family health crisis), business investment and career development. Around half of the participants from Malawi and Zambia that closed their businesses progressed to further education. Women reported that their role in financial decision-making increased after they had participated in the programme. Participants had higher median ages at first marriage and childbirth than demographically similar women who did not benefit from education and business support – indicating that the programme had enabled them to build a productive livelihood and avoid early marriage. (Binkley, 2019).

Multifaceted programmes that target multiple barriers are likely to boost girls' access to secure and productive livelihoods. Recognising barriers such as teenage pregnancy, early childbearing and a lack of access to credit and skills, the government of Sierra Leone partnered with UNICEF and BRAC to implement the Empowerment and Livelihoods for Adolescents programme, which had three components: health education (including sexual and reproductive health), vocational training (covering the skills required to engage in income generating activities) and microcredit. In spite of high levels of Ebola, adolescent girls in the programme were more likely to be in school and have improved levels of numeracy and literacy; they also spent on average 1.3 hours less per week with men than girls in nontargeted communities. Girls in non-targeted communities were also twice as likely to be pregnant out of marriage than girls who were in the programme. As a result, they were unlikely to re-enrol in school and likely to leave school earlier than girls who participated in the programme (Bandiera et al., 2019). In Uganda, adolescent girls in the same programme were 48% more likely to engage in income generating activities, almost entirely selfemployment. Teenage pregnancy fell by 34% and early entry into marriage and cohabitation fell by 62%, reducing their likelihood of engaging in risky and insecure livelihoods (Bandiera et al., 2017). However, an evaluation of this programme in Tanzania found no economic, health or social benefits, which raises some caution about whether the programme can be replicated in different contexts. The quality of implementation was influenced by resource constraints and contextual factors. For example, delays in rolling out the project meant that the programme was not implemented according to the original design, and club meetings had to take place in public spaces, with reduced materials. There was also less training for mentors, which led to high levels of turnover (Buehren et al, 2017).

The Adolescent Girls Empowerment Programme in Zambia, another multi-sectoral intervention, targets vulnerable, rural and urban girls aged 10 to 19. At the core of this intervention were mentor-led, weekly meetings of 20 to 30 adolescent girls covering three curricula – sexual and reproductive health and life skills, financial literacy, and nutrition. There were two additional elements, a health voucher and a bank account. Early results have shown some benefits, although the programme was not broadly beneficial for the majority of girls. Girls did show increased self-efficacy, financial savings behaviour and sexual and reproductive health knowledge. The changes were greatest for girls who received all three programme components: group meetings, health vouchers and girl-friendly individual savings accounts. However, a more recent study cautioned that this intervention only led to sustained change for a small number of girls (Austrian et al., 2020).

Interventions that promote financial inclusion and women's economic empowerment – including by providing savings and microfinance, alongside demand-oriented skills and on-the-job training and placements – have enabled young people to improve their access to secure livelihoods. Interventions that have financial education and/or financial assets to adolescent girls increased girls' financial literacy, savings and involvement in income-generating activities (Stavropoulou, 2018; Erulkar et. al., 2006). In rural Bangladesh, for example, the Social and Financial Empowerment of Adolescents programme for young women aged 11 to 21 provided girls' clubs, financial literacy, livelihood and life skills training alongside microfinance and community sensitisation. Participants reported increased financial literacy, ownership of poultry and small livestock, and involvement in economic activities (Kamruzzaman et al., 2012). However, a plethora of literature demonstrates that interventions focusing solely on financial inclusion and economic empowerment may not lead to secure livelihoods and may do little to improve well-being (Duvendack et al., 2011). Therefore, interventions must be carefully designed to consider social and gender norms from the outset.

Interventions that provide adolescent girls with information about livelihood opportunities can support both educational and work-related aspirations and skills development. In India, a programme provided recruiting services to young women aged 15 to 21 in randomly selected rural villages, with the intention of increasing awareness of the growing business processing

outsourcing industry. This industry was chosen because it offered new high-paying job opportunities, particularly for women, but it was made clear that the job opportunities were primarily for women with a secondary school degree, some English language ability and experience with computers. Women in the villages exposed to the recruiting intervention were 4.6 percentage points more likely to work in the industry than women in control villages and 2.4 percentage points more likely to work at all for pay outside the home. The higher educational requirements in the sector, and awareness of these, also led to increased investments in skills training and education for women. Three years later, women were 2.8 percentage points more likely to have enrolled in vocational or training institutes to develop these skills, and girls aged 6 to 17 were 5 percentage points more likely to be enrolled in school in villages with the intervention (Jensen, 2012). These findings show that when secure girl-friendly livelihood opportunities arise, and adolescents are informed of these opportunities, families invest more in the skills girls need to gain access to them.

# Short-term intervetions need to protect marginalised adolescent girls from unsafe work

Some promising programmes reduce adolescent girls' vulnerability to violence while in paid work and help them to leave unsafe livelihoods. The TAMSHA project in Tanzania supports vulnerable young women working in bars who are particularly at risk of sexual harassment. TAMSHA has created a network to increase social support for these young women. Under Tanzanian law, the network could include a union of bar workers to protect their rights and negotiate appropriate working conditions and protection. Biweekly meetings give the girls and young women a chance to speak about their experiences in a safe and supportive environment (Bruce, 2012). Several projects implemented by ChildHope have targeted adolescent girls most at risk of violence in the workplace. For example, the programme From Sexual Exploitation to Education for Ugandan Children helped girls in sex work to find alternative livelihoods where they were less vulnerable to violence. The programme provided intensive counselling and rehabilitation support, family reunification, livelihood support, and educational and livelihood training. After their involvement in the programme, the girls said they were not at risk of returning to unsafe work (ChildHope, n.d).

Programmes have reduced women's vulnerability to violence in work by engaging family members. The programme Sierra Leone Opportunities for Business Action helped businesses to reduce the risk of female employees experiencing violence from their husbands and partners. With the consent of employees, partners were included in the staff inductions to counter any misconceptions about the jobs that women were undertaking. The organisation also encouraged peer support among women and providing professional counselling for survivors of violence. Both women and men were reported to have responded well to these initiatives (Garbino et al, 2017).

Such interventions can succeed in meeting short-term goals. However, they are insufficient to deal with the gender discrimination in education and in the labour market that prevents marginalised girls from gaining access to secure and productive livelihoods. Long-term structural reform must therefore be given a high priority.

#### Long-term intervetions are needed to transform education systems

Deep structural changes are needed to develop transformative education systems that empower girls and help them to develop the foundational and transferable skills necessary for secure and productive livelihoods. Several strategies and interventions have succeeded in helping marginalised adolescent girls to complete 12 years of quality education (Gordon et al., 2019). However, deeper structural change and political leadership are needed to prioritise quality education for the most marginalised girls. In particular, governments should prioritise education sector planning that responds to girls' needs, supported by gender-sensitive budgeting and accountability. In addition, everyone from high-level political leaders to grassroots groups needs to join forces to shift social and gender norms (Rose et al., 2020).

Reforms in formal schooling to ensure that teaching methods are sensitive to girls' needs have a key role to play in shifting gender norms, which can improve girls' livelihood opportunities. Girl-friendly schools, such as the BRIGHT programme in Burkina Faso, have been found to improve learning outcomes for all children, while reducing the number of children engaged in household work. The intervention included information campaigns, adult literacy programmes, an increase in female teachers within schools and separate boys' and girls' toilets (Kazianga et al, 2013). Teachers who have higher qualifications and have trained in participatory learning tend to empower girls (Unterhalter and Heslop, 2012). Having female teachers has also led to improved test scores for girls (Muralidharan and Sheth, 2013; Ahiakpor et. al., 2014). Use of gender-sensitive teaching methods by the Forum for African Women Educationalists (FAWE) changed the gender dynamics of the school and the attitudes and aspirations of girls and boys in the classroom (Bissoonauth, 2016). Gender-sensitive classroom dynamics also tend to favour the development of foundational and transferable skills (Gordon et al., 2019). Promoting gender equality in education will roll back some discrimination in the world of work by supporting girls' aspirations.

Schools also need to adopt curricula that support the development of foundational and transferable skills. Effective skills development requires the careful selection and alignment of curriculum and content, appropriate teaching practices and an environment in which all learners feel safe (UNICEF, 2019). School-based clubs have also been found to boost transferable skills, such as self-confidence and self-efficacy. In India, for example, the school-based gender-integrated skills programme PAGES developed a curriculum to build girls' self-efficacy and ability to identify, plan and realise their personal and professional goals that was taught using a participatory approach. Self-efficacy increased significantly among girls who participated, and attitudes towards gender equality improved (Nanda et al., 2017). In Tanzania, the TUSEME approach, adopted by the Ministry of Education, used gender-responsive teaching and clubs that include boys and girls aged 10 to 17. TUSEME encourages girls to speak out, express their problems and find solutions. A study found that TUSEME clubs significantly boosted pupils' confidence and self-esteem (Mhando et. al., 2015).

# Long-term interventions need to provide gender-sensitive vocational training and work-based training

Gender sensitivity embedded within vocational training and work-based learning could boost the skills girls need to gain access to secure and productive livelihoods of their choice. The Botswana Training Authority, in collaboration with the Women's Affairs Department, drafted the National Policy for Mainstreaming Gender into Vocational Training and Work-based Learning in 2000 to increase the number of women in vocational training, to create more awareness of sexual harassment and how to report it, and to implement regular monitoring of the training needs of men and women (ILO, 2009). More recently, Bangladesh launched the National Strategy for *the Promotion of Gender Equality in Technical and Vocational Training*. This policy aimed to increase women's employment and improve attitudes towards female trades and employment (ILO, 2012).

# Long-term interventions need to challenge gender discrimination in the labour market

Government programmes to help those who are unemployed to find work have increased secure livelihood options for girls and young women, particularly in formal employment. In India, for example, the 2015 Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act offers at least 100 days paid work per year to all households who do manual labour. The act, intended to improve income security for those mostly involved in insecure work, has also narrowed the gender pay gap in rural India (Barford and Coombes, 2019). This demonstrates the key role that government policies can play for marginalised adolescent girls in diversifying rural livelihood opportunities and income security.

However, such overarching interventions can have adverse side effects, specifically on girls. For example, evidence from this programme found that adolescent girls were also more likely to substitute for mothers in domestic work while boys were more likely to engage in paid external work. For every 20 women induced into the labour force by the National Rural Employment Guarantee Scheme, between 1.2 and 4 adolescent girls may have dropped out of school, nearly all of them to go into full-time domestic work in their parents' homes (Shah and Steinberg, 2015). Interventions therefore need to be sensitive to the impact of cultural and social norms that may interact with programmes. One critical policy issue is that domestic responsibilities are more often placed on girls and women. Investing in community infrastructure such as piped water, sewerage and garbage collection could relieve this domestic burden, providing girls and women with more time to take up educational and livelihood opportunities (Aslam et al. , 2020). Water infrastructure can reduce women's time in unpaid work and increase children's education, although further research is needed (Koolwal and van de Walle, 2013).

Governments can help girls to gain access to secure and productive livelihoods by providing social protection measures. When families do not have an adequate safety net that could support them in case of emergency, they may adopt low-risk, low-return livelihood choices that can perpetuate poverty and risks (Barford and Coombes, 2019). Investing in social protection could give households more choice of livelihoods, including for adolescent girls. For example, the Productive Social Safety Net programme implemented by the Tanzania

Social Action Fund provided unconditional cash transfers (and an additional amount conditional on health check-ups and children's school attendance), as well as a Public Works Programme component to supplement household incomes during the lean season and a livelihoods enhancement component for young people aged 14 to 28. In villages where the programme was implemented, household ownership of livestock increased by about 47%. The programme also improved well-being and aspirations by increasing autonomy and, particularly for women, self-assessed wealth and household decision making (Camilletti, 2018).

Social protection programmes can be designed to tackle adolescent girls' socio-economic exclusion and vulnerabilities (Lahiri, 2020). Girls seek the path most appropriate for their skill sets and vision, so social protection programmes need to offer multi-faceted support that tackles different types of marginalisation. These programmes need to emphasise fulfilling rights, breaking structural constraints and providing adolescent girls with the tools to prevent long-term socio-economic exclusion.

During the Covid-19 pandemic, social protection programmes have taken on even greater importance in helping to meet the basic needs of families facing the economic effects of the crisis (Jones et al., 2020b).

Legislation needs to tackle discrimination in the labour market, protect women within the labour market and ensure women are compensated adequately for their work. Minimum wage legislation, for example, can benefit women in particular. In South Africa, minimum wage legislation introduced in 2002 significantly increased domestic workers' wages and led to them receiving written contracts as well as employer contributions to social insurance and pensions – all without reducing employment opportunities. As women make up 80% of domestic workers, they benefited most (Dinkelman & Ranchhod, 2012).

Alongside measures that tackle wider structural gender-based discrimination, focussed attention needs to be paid to interventions that consider the demand side of livelihoods – increasing and improving livelihood opportunities that the market is able to provide for workers (Elder and Kone, 2014). Boosting labour demand is more difficult than implementing supply-side measures such as skills development as it requires more systematic, longer-term approaches. This may explain why there is more evidence on short-term supply-side interventions that promise quicker results at a lower cost (Flynn, et. al., 2017). It is vital that recommendations reflect the need not only for short-term preventive measures but also for a stronger focus on long-term transformational approaches. Further research on such approaches is crucial to identify the policy measures most likely to ensure a supportive safety net that enables marginalised adolescent girls to move into secure and productive livelihoods.

#### **Recommendations**

The barriers to girls' access to livelihoods require long-term structural change at the systems level and changes to social norms. Such change needs strong political leadership and sustained commitment to dismantling patriarchal institutions that prevent adolescent girls transitioning from education to secure and productive livelihoods. In the light of the reforms that are needed, we propose recommendations for political leaders and policy makers:

Increase numbers of women political leaders who can contribute as role models to social norm change

Meet needs of marginalised adolescent girls in laws affecting education and labour market opportunities

Improve provision of sexual and reproductive health services and information

### **Political leaders**

Join forces to end violence in and through schools (heads of governments, government ministers and parliamentarians)

Provide skills development to enhance livelihood opportunities for young women who missed out on schooling Promote gendersensitive transformative approaches in international and national fora and planning

Include marginalised adolescent girls in Covid-19 recovery efforts

Develop legislation to tackle discriminatory practices that disadvantage working women

and extend data and evidence • Ensure all data and analyses are disaggregated by age and sex, and other forms of disadvantage • Promote further research on interventions that tackle social norms holding back opportunities in transition from school to work

Prioritise marginalised adolescent gils in policy of the second s systems that develop skills needed for secure and productive livelihood opportunities

Challenge gender discrimina

networks and girls' communities Provide information about sexual and reproductive health services

Consult with youth

 Develop transformative education systems that promote skills needed for secure and productive the labout no ket livelihood opportunities

### $\mathbf{a}$ Policy makers

 Develop multifaceted programmes that target multiple barriers to girls' participation in safe and secure livelihoods Provide counselling and rehabilitation programmes as well as educational and livelihood training for girls involved in unsafe work

 Provide interventions that promote financial inclusion and women's economic empowerment

Adopt cross-sectoral approaches

 Provide catch-up initiatives that give girls a second chance to learn

 Blend formal education with transferable skills to help girls access appropriate livelihood opportunties

<sup>ve w</sup>ays of boosting skills

#### References

Abbott, P., Mutesi, L., Tuyishime C., and Rwirahira, J. 2014. *Reproductive and Sexual Health in Rwanda: A review of the literature and the policy framework*. Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United Nations. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/275769929\_Reproductive\_and\_Sexual\_Health\_in\_Rw

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/275769929\_Reproductive\_and\_Sexual\_Health\_in\_Rw anda\_A\_Review\_of\_the\_Literature\_and\_the\_Policy\_Framework.

- Ahiakpor, F., Nunoo, J., and Alnaa, S.E. 2014. A New Look at School Enrolment in Ghana: A statistical analysis. *Journal of Studies in Education*, 4(2), 42–56.
- Alcid, A. 2014. A Randomized Controlled Trial of Akazi Kanoze Youth in Rural Rwanda Final Evaluation Report. Education Development Centre. Available from: <u>https://www.edc.org/sites/default/files/uploads/RCTReport.pdf</u>.
- Alibhai, S., Buehren, N., and Papineni, S. 2015. Female Entrepreneurs who Succeed in Male-Dominated Sectors in Ethiopia. Gender Innovation Lab. Available from: <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/956031468185386493/pdf/100247-BRI-Series-Box393225B-Female-Entrepreneurs-Who-Succeed-in-Male-Dominated-Sectors-in-Ethiopia.pdf</u>.
- Alibhai, S., Buehren, N., and Papineni, S. 2016. From Learning to Earning: An impact evaluation of the Digital Opportunity Trust (DOT) entrepreneurship training. World Bank Africa Gender Innovation Lab, Policy Brief Issue 17. Available from: http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/963301475096550281/pdf/108547-REVISED-PUBLIC-From-Learning-to-Earning.pdf.
- Amin, S., Ahmed, J., Saha, J., Hossain, M.I., and Haque, E.F. 2016. *Delaying Child Marriage through Community-based Skills-development Programs for Girls: Results from a randomized controlled study in rural Bangladesh*. Population Council. Available from: https://knowledgecommons.popcouncil.org/departments\_sbsr-pgy/557/.
- Arias, O., Evans, D.K., and Santos, I. 2019. *The Skills Balancing Act in Sub-Saharan Africa: Investing in skills for productivity, inclusivity and adaptability.* The World Bank. Available from: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/31723.
- Aslam, M., Rawal, S., Morrow, V., and Sarfraz, S. 2020. *The State of the Evidence on Child Labour, School Attendance, Learning and Child Well-being: A Rigorous Review of Evidence*. [in press]
- Austrian, K., Soler-Hampejsek, E., Behrman, J.R. Digitale, J., Hachonda, N. J. Bweupe, M. and Hewett, P.C. 2020. The impact of the Adolescent Girls Empowerment Program (AGEP) on Short and Long Term Social, Economic, Education and Fertility Outcomes: A Cluster Randomised Controlled Trial in Zambia. *BMC Public Health*, 20(349).
- Bandiera, O., Buehren, N., Burgess, R., Goldstein, M., Gulesci, S., Rasul, I. and Sulaiman, M. 2017. Women's Empowerment in Action: Evidence from a Randomised Control Trial in Africa. Available from: <u>https://www.povertyactionlab.org/sites/default/files/publications/Womens-Empowerment-in-Action Bandeiera-et-al. July2017.pdf</u>.
- Bandiera, O., Buehren, N., Goldstein, M., Rasul, I., and Smurra, A. 2019 *Empowering Adolescent Girls in a Crisis Context: Lessons from Sierra Leone in the Time of Ebola*. World Bank, Policy Brief Issue 34. Available from:

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/848841562216765266/pdf/Empowering-Adolescent-Girls-in-a-Crisis-Context-Lessons-from-Sierra-Leone-in-the-Time-of-Ebola.pdf.

- Bantebya, K.G., Kyoheirwe Muhanguzi, F., and Watson, C. 2014. Adolescent Girls in the Balance: Changes and continuity in social norms and practices around marriage and education in Uganda.
   ODI Country Report. Available from: <u>https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/9180.pdf</u>.
- Barford, A. and Coombe, R. 2019. *Getting By: Young people's working lives*. Murray Edwards College, Available from:

https://www.repository.cam.ac.uk/bitstream/handle/1810/292310/Barford\_Coombe\_GettingBy 2019.pdf?sequence=2&isAllowed=y.

- Beaman, L., Keleher, N., and Magruder, J. 2016. Do Job Networks Disadvantage Women? Evidence from a recruitment experiment in Malawi. Available from:
- https://are.berkeley.edu/~jmagruder/bkm\_recruitment\_jole.pdf.
- Binkley, A. 2019. *An Evaluation of CAMFED's Impact in Supporting Young Women's Livelihoods in Four African Countries*. CAMFED. [unpublished report].
- Bissoonauth, R. (Ed). 2016. Synthesis Report Case Studies on Inclusive Approaches to Learning in Africa: Girls and women's education. AU/CIEFFA.
- Boost, E., Jones, N., abd Kwauk, C. 2020. Life Skills for Adolescent Girls in the Covid-19 Pandemic. Girl's Education Challenge, UK Aid, GAGE and Centre for Universal Education at Brookings. Available from: <u>https://dfid-gec-</u>

api.s3.amazonaws.com/production/assets/51/GEC\_Guidance\_Note\_Life\_Skills\_and\_COVID-19\_July\_2020.pdf.

Botea, I., Chakravarty, S., and Haddock, S.E. 2015. *The Adolescent Girls Initiative in Rwanda. Final evaluation report*. World Bank. Available from:

https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documentsreports/documentdetail/642841468190152265/the-adolescent-girls-initiative-in-rwanda-finalevaluation-report.

- Boyden, J., Porter, C., and Zharkevich, I. 2020. Balancing School and Work with New Opportunities: Changes in Children's Gendered Time Use in Ethiopia (2006–2013). *Children's Geographies*, 1–14.
- Bruce, J. 2012 *Violence Against Adolescent Girls: A fundamental challenge to meaningful equality.* Available from: <u>https://www.popcouncil.org/uploads/pdfs/2012PGY\_GirlsFirst\_Violence.pdf</u>.
- Buehren, N., Goldstein, M., Gulesci, S., Sulaiman, M., and Yam, V. 2017. Evaluation of an adolescent development program for girls in Tanzania. Policy Research Working Paper 7961. World Bank. Available from: <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/26025</u>.
- Burchell, B.J., and Coutts, A.P. 2019. The Experience of Self-Employment Among Young People: An Exploratory Analysis of 28 Low- to Middle-Income Countries. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 63(2): 147-165.
- Camfield, L. Faiz Rashid, S., and Sultan, M. 2017. *Exploring Bangladeshi adolescents' gendered experiences and perspectives*. ODI, GAGE Digest. available from: <u>https://www.gage.odi.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Bangladeshi-Brief-WEB-2.pdf</u>.
- Camilletti, E. 2018. *Realizing an Enabling Environment for Adolescent Well-being: An inventory of laws and policies for adolescents in South Asia*. UNICEF. Available from: <u>https://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/937-realizing-an-enabling-environment-for-adolescent-well-being-an-inventory-of-laws.html</u>.
- Campos, F., Goldstein, M.L., McGorman, L., Munoz Boudet, A.M. and Pimhidzai, O. 2015 Breaking the Metal Ceiling: Female entrepreneurs who succeed in male-dominated sectors. Policy Research Working Paper 7503. World Bank. Available from:

https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documentsreports/documentdetail/753711467997247654/breaking-the-metal-ceiling-femaleentrepreneurs-who-succeed-in-male-dominated-sectors.

- Carter, E. Sabates, R. & Rose, P. 2018. Assessing Economic, Educational and Aspirational Trajectories Five Years after Completing Complementary Basic Education in Ghana.. REAL Centre, University of Cambridge, Report for DFID. Available from: <u>https://www.educ.cam.ac.uk/centres/real/downloads/Policy%20papers/CBE%20Tracer%20Study</u> %20-%20REAL%20RP\_ND%20V2.pdf.
- Caruso, B.A., Fehr, A., Inden, K., Sahin, M., Ellis, A., Andes, K.L., and Freeman, M.C. 2013. WASH in Schools Empowers Girls' Education in Freetown, Sierra Leone: An assessment of menstrual hygiene management in schools. UNICEF. Available from:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/270880911\_WASH\_in\_Schools\_Empowers\_Girls'\_Edu cation\_Tools\_for\_Assessing\_Menstrual\_Hygiene\_Management\_in\_Schools/link/54b68d320cf24e b34f6d2d3c/download.

- Chakraborty, T., Mukherjee, A., Rachapalli, S.R., and Saha, S. 2018. *Crime and Women's Labour Force Participation*. Available from: <u>https://www.isid.ac.in/~epu/acegd2014/papers/SaraniSaha.pdf</u>.
- Chakravarty, S., Das, S., and Vaillant, J. 2017. *Gender and Youth Employment in Sub-Saharan Africa: A review of constraints and effective interventions. Policy Research Working Paper 8245*. available from:

https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/28905/WPS8245.pdf?sequence =1&isAllowed=y.

- Chakravarty, S., Lundberg, M., Nikolov, P. and Zenker, J. 2016. *The Role of Training Programs for Youth employment in Nepal: Impact evaluation report on the Employment Fund. Policy Research Working Paper 7656*. World Bank. Available from: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=2771475.
- Chant, S., Klett- Davies, M., and Ramalho, J. 2017. *Challenges and potential solutions for adolescent girls in urban settings: a rapid evidence review*. Gender and Adolescence Global Evidence. Available from:

http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/84297/1/Young%20Female%20Adolescents%20in%20Urban%20Areas%2 ORER%20FINAL.pdf.

- Cho, Y., Margolis, D.N., Newhouse, D., and Robalino, D. 2012. *Labor markets in low and middle income countries: trends and implications for social protection and labor policies. World Bank Social Protection Discussion Papers, (67613)*. World Bank. Available from: <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/13550/676130NWP012070Box 367885B00PUBLIC0.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>.
- ChildHope. n.d. *From Sexual Exploitation to Education for Ugandan Children.* Available from: <u>https://www.childhope.org.uk/our-work/projects/from-sexual-exploitation-to-education-for-ugandan-children/</u>.
- De Azevedo, T.A., Davis, J., and Charles, M. 2013. *Testing What Works in Youth Employment: Evaluating Kenya's Ninaweza Program*. World Bank and International Youth Foundation. Avilable from: <u>https://www.iyfnet.org/library/testing-what-works-youth-employment-evaluating-kenyas-</u> <u>ninaweza-program</u>.
- Demirguc-Kunt, A. & Klapper, L. 2015. *Measuring financial inclusion: The global findex database*. Available from: <u>http://data.worldbank.org/data-catalog/financial\_inclusion</u>.
- Dinkelman, T., and Ranchhod, V. 2012. Evidence on the Impact of Minimum Wage Laws in an Informal Sector: Domestic Workers in South Africa. *Journal of Development Economics*, 99(1): 27– 45
- Dupas, P. 2011. 'Do Teenagers Respond to HIV Risk Information? Evidence from a Field Experiment in Kenya,' *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 3(1): 1-34.
- Duvendack, M., Palmer-Jones, R., Copestake, J.G. Hooper, L. Loke, Y. and Rao, N. 2011 *What is the Evidence of the Impact of Microfinance on the Well-being of Poor People? Systematic Review.* DFID. Available from:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a08aeeed915d622c0009bb/Microfinance2011 Duvendackreport.pdf.

- Eide, A.H. 2012. Education, Employment and Barriers for Young People with Disabilities in Southern Africa. Background paperprepared for Education of All Global Monitoring Report 2012. Youth and skills: Putting education to work. UNESCO. Available from: <u>https://edmsp1.ilo.org/edmsp1/groups/skills/documents/skpcontent/mdaw/mja1/~edisp/fm11g</u> 021827.pdf.
- Elder, S., and Kring, S. 2016. Young and female a double strike? Gender analysis of school-to-worktransition surveys in 32 developing countries. *Work4Youth Publication Series No. 32*. International Labour Office. Available from: <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---</u> ed emp/documents/publication/wcms 447495.pdf.
- Elder, S., de Haas, H., Principi, M., and Schewel, K. 2015. Youth and Rural Development: Evidence from 25 school-to-work transition surveys. Work4Youth Publication Series No. 29. International

Labour Office. Available from: <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---</u> <u>dcomm/documents/publication/wcms\_360558.pdf</u>.

- Erulkar, A., Bruce, J., Dondo, A., Sebstad, J., and Matheka, J. 2006 *Tap and Reposition Youth (TRY): Providing social support savings and microcredit opportunities for young women in areas with high HIV prevalence*. Population Council. Available from: <u>https://knowledgecommons.popcouncil.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1007&context=departm</u> ents sbsr-pgy.
- Fawole, O.I., Ajuwon, A.J., and Osungbade, K.O. 2005. Evaluation of Interventions to Prevent Gender Based Violence among Young Female Apprentices in Ibadan, Nigeria. *Health Education*, 105(3), 186-203.
- Flynn, J., Mader, P., and Oosterom, M. with Ripoll, S. 2017. Failing Young People? Addressing the supply-side bias and individualisation in youth employment programming. *Evidence Report No* 216. IDS. Available from:

https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/20.500.12413/12715/ER216\_FailingYoun gPeople\_AddressingtheSupplysideBiasandIndividualisationinYouthEmploymentProgramming.pdf.

- Fox, L., Kibbuka, K., Munoz, J.H., Sohnesen, T.P. 2011. *Small is Big: Development of household enterprise sector in Ghana. A quantitative look at household enterprises*. World Bank.
- Gender and Adolescence Global Evidence (GAGE). 2017. Gender and Adolescence: Why understanding adolescent capabilities, change strategies and context matters. Available from: <u>https://www.gage.odi.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Gender-and-Adolescence-CF-FINAL-1.pdf</u>.
- Garbarino, S., Beevers, K., O'Neill, S., Davies, J., Walker, O., and Kucharski, A. 2017. SOBA Women's Economic Empowerment Insights: Lion Mountains- employing women and preventing imntimate partner violence as a matter of buisnes. Available from:

https://issuu.com/adamsmithinternational/docs/lion-mountains-employing-women-and-.

- Gordon, R., Marston, L., Rose, P., and Zubairi, A. 2019. *12 Years of Quality Education for All Girls: A Commonwealth perspective*. REAL Centre, University of Cambridge. Available from: <u>https://www.educ.cam.ac.uk/centres/real/downloads/Platform%20for%20Girls/REAL%2012%20</u> Years%20of%20Quality%20Education%20for%20All%20Girls%20FULL%2084pp.pdf.
- Guarcello, L., and Lyon, S. 2015. Adolescents in Hazardous Work: Child labour among children aged 15-17 years. Understanding Children's Work (UCW) Programme. Avaiable from: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/305495427 Adolescents in hazardous work Child I</u> abour\_among\_children\_aged\_15-17\_years/link/5791e45508ae33e89f74e5a3/download.
- Hallman, K.K. 2016. Population Council Lessons on Increasing and Measuring Girls' Economic Empowerment. Population Council. Available from: <u>https://data2x.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/09/PopulationCouncilLessonsOct2016.pdf</u>.
- ILO. 2009 Youth Employment: Breaking gender barriers for young women and men. Available from: <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/@dgreports/@gender/documents/publication/wcms\_097919.pdf">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/@dgreports/@gender/documents/publication/wcms\_097919.pdf</a>.
- ILO. 2011. Report of the Director General. A new era of social justice. International Labor Conference, 100th Session. Available from: <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_norm/---</u> relconf/documents/meetingdocument/wcms 155656.pdf.
- ILO. 2012. National Strategy for the Promotion of Gender Equality in Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVET). Available from: <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---</u> <u>asia/---ro-bangkok/---ilo-dhaka/documents/publication/wcms\_222688.pdf</u>.
- ILO and UNICEF. 2018. *GirlForce: Skills, education and training for girls now*. Available from: <u>https://www.unicef.org/sites/default/files/2018-10/Unicef\_DayoftheGirl\_Brochure\_R7.pdf</u>.
- Jensen, R. 2012. Do Labor Market Opportunities Affect Young Women's Work and Family Decisions? Experimental Evidence from India. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 127(2): 753-792.
- Jones, N., Gebeyehu, Y., Gezahegne, K., Iyasu, A., Workneh, F., and Yadete, W. 2020a. Child Marriage Risks in the Context of Covid-19 in Ethiopia. Gender and Adolecence Global Evidence (GAGE).

Available from:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5f314dec8fa8f57acac337db/GAGE-Covid-19-Ethiopia-child-marriage.pdf.

- Jones, N., Małachowska, A., Guglielmi, S., Alam, F., Hamad, B.A., Alheiwidi, S., and Yadete, W. 2020b. *'I have nothing to feed my family...' Covid-19 risk pathways for adolescent girls in low- and middle-income countries. (Covid 19 Series).* Gender Adolescence: Global Evidence (GAGE). Available from: <u>https://www.gage.odi.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Covid-19-risk-</u> <u>pathways-for-adolescent-girls-1.pdf</u>.
- Jones, N., Presler-Marshall, E., and Samuels, F. 2018. Introduction: The significance of adolescence in the lifecourse. In Harper, C., Jones, N., Ghimire, A., Marcus R., and Kyomuhendo Bantebya G. (Eds.) *Empowering Adolescent Girls in Developing Countries: Gender justice and norm change.* Abingdon: Routledge
- Jones, N., Presler-Marshall, E., and Stavropoulou, M. 2018. *Adolescents with Disabilities: enhancing resilience and delivering inclusive development*. Available from: <u>https://www.odi.org/publications/11165-adolescents-disabilities-enhancing-resilience-and-delivering-inclusive-development</u>.
- Kabeer, N. 2012. Women's Economic Empowerment and Inclusive Growth: Labour markets and enterprise development. Discussion Paper 29/12. Available from: <u>https://eprints.soas.ac.uk/34288/1/Women%E2%80%99s%20Economic%20Empowerment%20an</u> <u>d%20Inclusive%20Growth.pdf</u>.
- Kamruzzaman, M., Hossain, N.Z., Bhattacharjee, A., Akter, A., Raza, W., Malek, M.A. and Das, N.C.
   2012. Social Network and Financial Literacy among Rural Adolescent Girls: Qualitative assessment of BRAC's SoFEA programme. Working Paper No. 34. BRAC Research and Evaluation Division. Available from:

https://www.zef.de/fileadmin/user\_upload/c24b\_SOFEA\_Working\_Paper\_34.pdf.

- Kazianga, H., Levy, D., Linden, L.L., and Sloan, M. 2013. The Effects of "Girl-Friendly" Schools: Evidence from the BRIGHT School Construction Program in Burkina Faso. American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 5(3), 41–62.
- Kett, M. 2012. Skills Development for Youth Living with Disabilities in Four Developing Countries. Background paper prepared for the Education for All Monitoring Report: Youth and skills; putting education to work. UNESCO. Available from: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000217882.
- Klugman, J., Parsons, J., and Melnikova, T. 2018. *Working to Empower Girls in Nigeria: Highlights of the Educating Nigerian Girls in New Enterprises (ENGINE) program.* Georgetown Institute for Women Peace and Security. Available from: https://giwps.georgetown.edu/resource/engine/.
- Koolwal, G., and Van de Walle, D. 2013. Access to Water, Women's Work and Child Outcomes. World Bank. Available from: <u>https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/pdf/10.1086/668280</u>.
- Kwauk, C. and Perlman Robinson, J. 2016. *Educate! Riding the Reform Wave to Scale up Youth Entrepreneurship in Uganda*. Centre for Universal Education at Brookings. Available from: <u>https://youtheconomicopportunities.org/sites/default/files/uploads/resource/FINAL%20Educate</u> %20Case%20Study.pdf.
- Lahiri, A. 2020. Flying with Both Wings: Empowering Adolescent Girls Through Transformative Social Protection. *Policy Design and Practice*, 3(4):, 414-428.
- Lippman, L.H., Ryberg, R., Carney, R., and Moore, K.A. 2015. *Workfore connections. Key 'soft skills' that foster youth workforce success: Toward a consensus across field*. Child Trends. Available from: <u>http://www.childtrends.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/2015-</u>24AWFCSoftSkillsExecSum.pdf.
- Magruder, J.R. 2010. Intergenerational Networks, Unemployment, and Persistent Inequality in South Africa. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 2(1): 62–85.
- Maitra, P., and Mani, S. 2014. *Learning and Earning: Evidence from a randomized evaluation in India. IZA Discussion Paper 8552.* Institute of Labor Economics. Available from:

https://www.iza.org/publications/dp/8552/learning-and-earning-evidence-from-a-randomized-evaluation-in-india.

- Marcus, R., Gupta-Archer, N., Darcy, M., and Page, E. 2017. *Girls' Clubs and Life Skills Programmes and Girls' Wellbeing Outcomes: A rigorous review*. Gender and Adolescence: Global Evidence (GAGE). Available from: <u>https://www.gage.odi.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/GAGE-Girls-Club-Report-FINAL.pdf</u>.
- Mastercard Foundation. 2018. *Mastercard Index of Women Entrepreneurs (MIWE)*. Available from: <u>https://newsroom.mastercard.com/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2018/03/MIWE 2018 Final\_Report.pdf.

- Mhando, N., Shukia, R., and Mkumbo, K. 2015. *Evaluation of TUSEME Programme in Tanzania*. UNICEF. Available from: <u>https://catalog.ihsn.org/index.php/citations/81120</u>.
- Muñoz Boudet, A.M., P. Petesch, and C. Turk with Thumala, A. 2013. On Norms and Agency: Conversations about gender equality with women and men in 20 countries. World Bank. Available from:

https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/13818/768180PUB0EPI00IC00P UB0DATE04012013.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.

- Muralidharan, K., and Sheth, K. 2013. Bridging Education Gender Gaps in Developing Countries: The role of female teacher. Working Paper 19341. National Bureau of Economic Research. Available from: <u>https://www.nber.org/system/files/working\_papers/w19341/w19341.pdf</u>.
- Nanda, P., Gautam, A., Das, P., Vyas, A., Guhathakurta, A., and Datta, N. 2017. *Shaping Futures: Planning ahead for girls' empowerment and employability. An evaluation study of a school-based girls' gender integrated skills program in Delhi, India.* New Delhi: International Center for Research on Women. Available from: <u>https://www.icrw.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2017/02/Shaping-Futures-PAGE-Evaluation-Report.pdf</u>.
- Ngware, M.W., Boukary, H., Wekulo, P., Mutsiya, M., Zikani, K., Otieno, C.M.A., and Riechi, A.R.O. 2018. Alternative Education and Return Pathways for Out-of-School Youth in sub-Saharan Africa: A background paper for the Secondary Education: Preparing Youth for the Future of Work. African Population and Health Research Center's (APHRC). Available from: <u>https://mastercardfdn.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Alternative-Education-and-Return-</u> Pathways-FINAL.pdf.
- National Institute of Statistics Rwanda (NISR). 2016. *EICV4 Thematic Report Youth*. Intergrating household living coniditons survey. Available from:

https://www.statistics.gov.rw/publication/eicv-4-thematic-report-youth.

- OECD/ILO. 2019. Development Centre Studies. Tackling Vulnerability in the Informal Economy. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Palmer, R. 2007. Skills Development, the Enabling Environment and Informal Micro-Enterprise in Ghana. *Compare*, 37(4): 565-565.
- Population Council and Women Deliver. 2019. *Having A Child Before Becoming An Adult: Exploring the economic impact in a multi-country analysis*. Available from: <u>https://womendeliver.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Women-Deliver-Population-Council-Report.pdf</u>.
- Presler-Marshall, E., and Stavropoulou, M. 2017. Adolescent Girls' Capabilities in Bangladesh: A synopsis of the evidence. Gender and Adolescence: Global Evidence. Available from: <u>https://www.gage.odi.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Adolescent-girls%E2%80%99-</u> <u>capabilities-in-Bangladesh-A-synopsis-of-the-evidence.pdf</u>.
- Rose, P., Gordon, R., Marston, L., Zubairi, A., and Downing, P. 2020. *Transformative Political Leadership to Promote 12 Years of Quality Education for All Girls*. REAL Centre, University of Cambridge. Available from: https://www.educ.cam.ac.uk/centres/real/publications/PoliticalLeadershipPaper\_FINAL\_Wit

https://www.educ.cam.ac.uk/centres/real/publications/PoliticalLeadershipPaper\_FINAL\_With%2 0Forward\_Website.pdf.

Rose, P., Sabates, R., Alcott, B, and Ilie, S. 2017. Overcoming Inequalities within Countries to Achieve Global Convergence in Learning. *Background paper for The Learning Generation*. The Education

Commission. Available from:

https://www.repository.cam.ac.uk/bitstream/handle/1810/262418/Overcoming-Inequalitieswithin-Countries%20%282%29.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.

- Ruiz Abril, M.E., 2008. Girls' Vulnerability Assessment. Background report for the preparation of the Adolescent Girls and Young Women's Economic Empowerment. World Bank. Available from: http://liberiaphilanthropy.org/s/GoL-Nike-World-Bank-Girls-Vulnerability-Assessment.doc.
- Sabates, R., Rose, P., Alcott, B., and Delprato, M. 2020. Assessing Cost-Effectiveness with Wquity of a Programme Targeting Marginalised Girls in Secondary Schools in Tanzania. *Journal of Development Effectiveness*, 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19439342.2020.1844782</u>.
- Shah, M., and Steinberg, B.M. 2015. *Workfare and Human Capital Investment: Evidence from India. NBER Working Paper No. 21543.* National Bureau of Economic Research. Available from: <u>https://www.nber.org/papers/w21543</u>.
- Siba, E. 2019. Empowering Women Entrepreneurs in Developing Countries: Why current programs fall short. Policy Brief. Available from: <u>https://www.brookings.edu/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2019/02/Empowering-women-entreprenuers-in-developing-countries-190215.pdf</u>.
- Sommer, M., Chandraratna, S., Cavill, S., Mahon, T., and Phillips-Howard, P. 2016. Managing Menstruation in the Workplace: An overlooked issue in low- and middle-income countries. *International Journal of Equity in Health*, 15(86).
- Stavropoulou, M. 2018. Interventions Promoting Adolescent Girls' Economic Capabilities: What works? A rasid evidence review. Gender and AdolesenceL Global Evidence (GAGE). Available from: <u>https://www.gage.odi.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Rapid-Evidence-Review-WEB2.pdf.</u>
- Sykes, J., Elder, S., Gurbuzer, Y., and Principi, M. 2016. *Exploring the Linkages Between Youth Financial Inclusion and Job Creation. Evidence from ILO school-to-work transition surveys.* International Labour Office and the MasterCard Foundation. Available from: <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---</u> <u>ed\_emp/documents/publication/wcms\_533567.pdf</u>.
- UNESCO. 2012. Education For All Global Monitoring Report 2012. Youth and skills: Putting education to work. Available from: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000218003.
- UNESCO. 2019. *Gender Report: Building Bridges for Gender Equality.* Available from: <u>https://gem-report-2019.unesco.org/gender-report/</u>.
- UNESCO. 2020. *Global Education Monitoring Report. Gender report. A New Generation; 25 Years of efforts for gender equality in education.* Available from: <u>https://en.unesco.org/gem-report/2020genderreport.</u>
- UNESCO-WIDE. 2017. *World Inequality Database on Education*. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation. Available from: <u>https://www.education-inequalities.org/</u>.
- UNICEF. 2018. Adolescents Overview. Available from: https://data.unicef.org/topic/adolescents/overview/.

UNICEF. 2019. *Global Framework on Transferable Skills*. Available from: <u>https://www.unicef.org/media/64751/file/Global-framework-on-transferable-skills-2019.pdf on</u> <u>2.12.20</u>.

- UNICEF ITU. 2020. Towards an Equal Future: Reimagining girls' education through STEM. Available from: <u>https://www.unicef.org/media/84046/file/Reimagining-girls-education-through-stem-2020.pdf</u>.
- Unterhalter, E., and Heslop, J. 2012. *Transforming Education for Girls in Tanzania and Nigeria: Cross country analysis of endline research studies*. ActionAid. Available from: <u>https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10018923/</u>.
- Williams, T.P., Chopra, V., and Chikanya, S.R. 2018. "It isn't that we're prostitutes": Child protection and sexual exploitation of adolescent girls within and beyond refugee camps in Rwanda. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 86: 158-166.

- Wilson-Clark, G., and Saha, S. 2019. *Transitions from School to Work. UNICEF Technical Note.* UNICEF. Available from: <u>https://www.unicef.org/media/60366/file/Transitions-from-school-to-work-2019.pdf</u>.
- Wilson, M., Khan, Z., Cheriyan, P., and Stoelinga, D. 2019. Secondary Education in Africa: Preparing youth for the future of work. Background paper on preparing youth for the transition to work. Mastercard Foundation. Avilable from: <u>https://mastercardfdn.org/research/secondary-</u> education-in-africa/.
- Winter, F. 2016. Shaping Aspirations and Outcomes: Gender and adolescence in Young Lives. *Policy Paper 9.* University of Oxford. Available from:

https://www.younglives.org.uk/sites/www.younglives.org.uk/files/YL-PolicyPaper-09-Sep16.pdf.

- Wodon, Q., Male, C., Nayihouba, A., Onagoruwa, A., Savadogo, A., Yedan, A., Edmeades, J., Kes, A., John, N., Murithi, L., Steinhaus, M., and Petroni, S. 2017. *Economic Impacts of Child Marriage: Global Synthesis Report.* The World Bank. Available from: <u>http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/530891498511398503/pdf/116829-WP-P151842-</u> PUBLIC-EICM-Global-Conference-Edition-June-27.pdf.
- World Bank. 2012. *World Development Report 2012: Gender equality and development.* Available from: <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/4391</u>.
- World Bank. 2019. *Profiting from Parity: Unlocking the potential of women's businesses in Africa.* Available from: <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/31421</u>.
- World Bank. 2014. STEP Skills Measurement: Snapshot 2014. Available from: https://www.worldbank.org/content/dam/Worldbank/Feature%20Story/Education/STEP%20Sna pshot%202014 Revised June%2020%202014%20%28final%29.pdf.
- World Bank. 2018. Human Capital Project. Available from: <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/human-capital</u>.
- Zubairi, A., and Rose, P. 2019. Equitable Financing of Secondary Education in Sub-Saharan Africa. Background Paper for the MasterCard Foundation. Available from: <u>https://mastercardfdn.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/SEA-Finance-Equity\_REAL\_Final-Version\_Feb-2019-1.pdf</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup> Vulnerable employment defined in the ILO School to Work Transition Survey as engagement in jobs where remuneration is directly dependent upon the goods or services produced (self-employment), or those employed in a family business (paid or unpaid).





Research for Equitable Access and Learning

#### **REAL** Centre

Faculty of Education University of Cambridge 184 Hills Road, Cambridge CB2 8PQ, UK

#### **REAL Centre Administrator**

Email: REALCentre@educ.cam.ac.uk Telephone: +44 (0) 1223 767693



### www.educ.cam.ac.uk/centres/real